Module 26.3

Physical Activity and Exercise Training in Cancer Patients

Dr Matthew Maddocks MSCP PhD Senior Lecturer in Health Services Research & Specialist Physiotherapist Cicely Saunders Institute of Palliative Care Policy & Rehabilitation King's College London, UK

Learning Objectives

- To understand the impact of cancer and its treatment on cardiorespiratory fitness, physical function and quality of life;
- To discuss the evidence for physical activity and exercise in cancer, across the disease trajectory, with a focus on symptom burden and physical function;
- To understand how to prescribe, structure and monitor a physical activity and exercise intervention;
- To discuss the barriers to physical activity and exercise intervention as applied to cancer practice.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Physical activity and exercise prescription
 - 2.1 Guideline recommendations
 - 2.2 Individualized prescription
 - 2.3 Screening and monitoring
- 3. Effects of exercise
 - 3.1 Summary of overall effects
 - 3.2 Type of exercise
 - 3.3 Combined exercise and nutrition
 - 3.4 Exercise delivery
- 4. Practice barriers and facilitators
 - 4.1 Patients and families
 - 4.2 The role of professionals
 - 4.3 Organizational factors
- 5. Summary
- 6. References

Key Messages

- Reduced physical function, incorporating exercise intolerance, physical inactivity and dependency, is a common consequence of cancer and its treatment;
- Most physical activity and exercise guidelines for cancer survivors suggest that physical activity should be an integral and continuous part of care for all cancer survivors;
- The full potential of exercise in cancer patients is more likely to be realized with careful and considered individual prescription;
- There is sufficient evidence to support the promotion of physical activity and exercise for adult cancer patients before, during, and after cancer treatment, across all cancer types, including those with advanced disease;
- Combined aerobic and resistance exercise training, targeting fitness and muscle function, may be particularly relevant in patients with cachexia. Evidence for the added value of nutritional support alongside exercise is emerging;
- Patient, family and professional beliefs about the value and benefits of physical activity and exercise can influence patients' attitudes and motivation to participate in programmes.

1. Introduction

Reduced physical function is a common consequence of cancer and its treatment. It is apparent across most cancer types, all stages of disease, and is associated with poorer functional independence, worse anti-cancer treatment tolerability and higher all-cause mortality (1).

Patients with cancer have considerable impairments in cardiorespiratory fitness; defined as the capacity to deliver oxygen from the air to the skeletal muscles for energy production (2). This is associated with heightened symptoms, functional dependence, and an increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (3). Causes include existing patient characteristics, e.g. age or comorbid conditions, the direct effects of anticancer therapy, e.g. chemotherapy-induced anaemia or radiation-induced pneumonitis (4, 5), as well as the indirect consequences secondary to therapy, e.g. deconditioning due to physical inactivity (1).

Physical function is broader than cardiorespiratory fitness, influenced also by muscular fitness; what skeletal muscle can do with oxygen once it is delivered, plus the patient's tolerance for exercise-induced symptoms like breathlessness and fatigue (6). Muscular fitness can be reduced at the point of diagnosis owing to the natural effects of older age, poor lifestyle and co-morbidities. Anti-cancer treatment can have adverse effects on muscle mass (7, 8). Reduced muscular fitness generally continues unless the cancer can be eradicated due to limiting symptoms, physical inactivity and a deconditioning spiral. Physical function can decline to a level that threatens the patient's physical independence. One-third and half of adults with cancer respectively have difficulty or require assistance to perform basic and instrumental activities of daily living, most frequently walking, dressing and transfers (9).

Cancer cachexia accelerates the decline in physical function (10) and increases the risk for physical disability (11, 12). The definition of Fearon et al. emphasizes the key role of muscle loss in the development of frailty and disability (13, 14). Reduced muscle mass is a cardinal feature of cachexia. It is most apparent when intra-muscular fat is accounted for (15) and leads to impaired oxidative capacity. Muscle quality (force/unit mass) may

also be compromised in some cases (16) though this is most apparent in male patients and those reporting substantial weight loss (17). Further, physical inactivity is an almost inevitable consequence of the negative energy balance in cachexia that results from reduced food intake and metabolic disturbance (18, 19).

The above are all indications for increased physical activity and exercise (i.e. a form of physical activity that is planned, structured and repetitive and aims to improve fitness, performance or health (20) as recommended by the ESPEN expert group for action against cancer-related malnutrition (21). This module briefly outlines the evidence supporting the provision of physical activity and exercise in cancer, provides a framework for prescribing and monitoring interventions, and discusses the barriers and facilitators to getting physical activity and exercise into cancer practice.

2. Physical Activity and Exercise Prescription

2.1 Guideline Recommendations

Most physical activity and exercise guidelines for cancer survivors suggest that physical activity should be an integral and continuous part of care for all cancer survivors (22). For exercise, the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM), as an example, recommend that patients with cancer should participate in at least 150 min of moderate exercise (e.g. brisk walking, light swimming) or 75 min of vigorous exercise (e.g. jogging, running) each week (23). This recommendation may be more of a long-term goal and is not often an appropriate initial prescription for sedentary patients during anti-cancer treatment. However, most exercise studies in the cancer literature have tested an exercise prescription that closely adheres to this plan. Other guidelines focusing on physical activity, recommend that daily and regular physical activity is performed, but encourage any steps to move from a sedentary to a more active lifestyle (24, 25).

2.2 Individualized Prescription

Key to a safe and effective exercise prescription is the structured individualization of the programme to patients' needs (26). This can be challenging given the variation in pathophysiology, management, and prognosis between different tumour types and patients. The full potential of exercise in cancer patients is more likely to be realized with careful and considered individual prescription. The principles of training can help guide the application of more effective exercise (27).

- *Individualization* describes the customized application of training towards the physiological status of the patient;
- *Specificity* addresses the notion that selected exercise stress must be specific to the primary system(s) and outcome(s) of interest;
- *Progressive overload* describes how stress must increase over time to confer continued physiological adaptation;
- The *rest and recovery* principle describes the necessity of nutrients and rest (or reduced training load) to replace the required constituents of the impacted system(s).

The F.I.T.T. principle provides a structure to design a physical activity or exercise programme by considering exercise: frequency (sessions per week), intensity (how hard per session), time (session duration), and type (exercise modality). Jones and colleagues (26) provide a general approach to individualized, progressive exercise prescription in

cancer patients focusing on aerobic training. The type of exercise (aerobic or resistance) should be influenced both by patient needs and preference.

2.3 Screening and Monitoring

Physical activity and exercise training is generally safe in cancer patients. However, patient frailty, co-morbid conditions, and side effects of cancer treatment add to complexity (28). Safe exercise training can be facilitated by a careful history and physical examination for cardiac, pulmonary, neurological, and musculoskeletal signs and symptoms (29). Tools such as the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire or PARmed-X provide a structure to screen and indicate any need for further evaluation (29).

The prevailing view is that when there are clinically significant abnormalities in blood counts (platelets <220x10⁹/L; haemoglobin <80g/L; white blood cell count <2.0x10⁹/L; neutrophils <1.5x10⁹/L; blood glucose <5.5mmol/L/100mg/dL) or fever (oral temperature >38.0 C/100.4 F) training should be limited and guided by a physician (30). Additional safety precautions include avoidance of high-intensity physical activity or exercise when immunosuppressed, experiencing severe pain, fatigue, or compromised bone health (22, 30, 31). If experiencing sudden onset of swelling, physical dysfunction or pain the use of the affected body part/region should be avoided (22, 30, 31). Patients with compromised immune function, undergoing radiation or with indwelling catheters or feeding tubes should stay away from swimming pools (22). For patients who are frail, experiencing dizziness or peripheral sensory neuropathy, avoiding activities requiring balance is recommended, and patients with a stoma are advised to start with low-resistance exercise and progress slowly to avoid herniation (22, 31). For patients with cognitive impairment additional support should be provided as required and training should be simplified (22, 30). Finally, professionals should also stay up to date on advances in cancer treatment, and any emerging safety issues (28).

Blood pressure, heart rate, and oxygen saturations (SpO₂) can easily be obtained at screening, before and throughout training, to assess baseline status and haemodynamic response to exercise, and to identify adverse cardiorespiratory signs and symptoms (30). Patient self-monitoring and reporting of chest pain, palpitations, and breathlessness on exertion should be encouraged (30).

3. Effects of Exercise

3.1 Summary of Overall Effects

There is sufficient evidence to support the promotion of physical activity and exercise for adult cancer patients (32, 33). Several reviews and meta-analyses provide strong evidence that physical activity and exercise is safe and acceptable before, during, and after cancer treatment, across all cancer types (33), and including those with advanced stages of disease receiving treatments with palliative intent (34). About two-thirds of cancer patients offered a physical activity or exercise programme will accept and about half will complete it (35).

Overall, exercise in cancer patients during and after treatment is associated with maintenance of or improvements in physical and psychosocial outcomes (36), including increased cardiorespiratory fitness (4), reduced fatigue (37), anxiety and depression (38), and better health-related quality of life (39). Most exercise studies have been conducted in patients with early stage breast cancer during and immediately after receiving therapy

with a curative intent (33), including adjuvant chemotherapy (40, 41). Fewer studies including patients with lung or upper-gastrointestinal cancer, haematological malignancies, or advanced stage cancer have been conducted. However, this literature is rapidly growing and evidence for these groups is accumulating. A review limited to advanced cancer identified 24 trials with most reporting significant between- and/or within-group improvements in physical function, quality of life, fatigue, body composition, psychosocial function, and sleep quality (42). The latest studies in pancreatic (43, 44), lung cancer (44, 45) and gastrointestinal cancer (46) show good safety and feasibility, and suggest potential for benefit on outcomes around body composition and physical function.

Observational data suggest that sufficient levels of physical activity may also enhance tolerance to cancer treatments (40) and improve disease-free and overall survival (47). Higher levels of physical activity are generally associated with lower mortality risk in survivors of breast, colon, and prostate cancer (40, 47). The link between physical activity and cancer outcomes has strong biological plausibility related to sex hormones, inflammatory markers, immune function, and antioxidant pathways (48). Exercise may theoretically also impact on tumour progression and metastasis via alterations in systemic and circulating factors, to influence the tumour microenvironment and cellular signalling. (49). However, heterogeneity precludes meaningful conclusions from the current evidence and causal data are lacking.

3.2 Exercise Type

Most exercise trials in cancer patients have followed physical activity guidelines for the general population and focus on completing moderate-intensity aerobic training on at least three occasions each week. The additional use of individualized resistance exercise, targeting muscle strength and mass, may be particularly relevant in patients with cachexia, where muscle dysfunction contributes directly to functional impairment (21). Exercise may attenuate some of the immunological and hormonal abnormalities found with cancer cachexia (50), and provides a strong anabolic stimulus to counteract the accelerated decline in muscle mass and function (51).

A systematic review concluded that both aerobic and resistance exercise can improve upper and lower body muscle strength more than usual care (52). There was some indication that resistance exercise is more effective for improving muscle strength than aerobic exercise (52). It would be surprising if this was not the case, given the specificity principle of exercise training, and the lack of a finding of significance probably reflects the low volume and small size of comparative studies. A more recent meta-analysis further supported the role of resistance training to target cancer-related muscle dysfunction (53). Pooling individual patient data from 28 trials, exercise significantly improved upper body muscle strength (β =0.20, 95% Confidence Interval (CI) 0.14 to 0.26), lower body muscle strength (β =0.29, 95% CI 0.23 to 0.35) and lower body muscle function (β =0.16, 95% CI 0.08 to 0.24) with larger effects for supervised interventions and when resistance exercise was included, more so when training sessions were >60 min duration (53). More research of this nature is required to demonstrate the relative effects of different exercise programmes (21), and to identify patient and clinical moderators of effect to explain 'for whom' or 'under what circumstances' interventions work best.

3.3 Combined Exercise and Nutrition

The principles of optimizing physical and nutritional function in patients with cancer cachexia would seem appropriate to be applied to a broader rehabilitation concept in all patients with cancer. In patients with incurable cancer the high prevalence of cachexia means that any rehabilitation intervention for this group should consider key components of nutritional support. A recent review of combined exercise and nutritional rehabilitation interventions in incurable cancer identified eight studies. Factors associated with programme completion were better baseline nutritional or functional status and lower levels of systemic inflammation. Despite limited data, programmes led to improvements in many outcomes important to patients, most notably those relating to physical endurance and depression (see **Table 1**).

Table 1

combine exercise and nutrition programmes in incurable cancer			
Patient- Important Outcomes	Studies / participants	Quality of the body of evidence (GRADE)	Comments
Quality of Life	3 / n=214 (54-56)	LOW (C)	Two moderate quality studies with conflicting results, one low quality study showing improvement; studies have limitations and inconsistencies in outcome variables.
Overall Function	2 / n=81 (57, 58)	VERY LOW (D)	Two studies with low and very low quality examined changes in functional status scores, one finding significant and one non- significant improvements. Sparse data with limitations.
Fatigue	3 / n=203 (54, 56, 57, 59)	LOW (C)	Two low, one very low-quality studies with limitations showing significant improvements in fatigue in spite of sparse data, and one high quality (underpowered) study showing non-significant improvements in intervention group compared to control.
Physical Endurance/ Strength	6 / n=342 (54, 56-60)	MODERATE (B)	Six studies with overall 'low' quality, with limitations: variable consistency in significance levels but overall magnitude of effect seen was improvement in spite of low statistical power of studies: GRADE of evidence increased (+2).
Depression	6 / n=371 (54, 55, 57, 59-61)	MODERATE (B)	Overall low-quality studies with limitations but GRADE of evidence increased (+2) due to studies all showing consistent significant improvements in depression/ psychological subscales.
Nutrition / Weight	5 / n=285 (54, 56-59)	VERY LOW (D)	Five studies of overall low quality with serious limitations and indirectness (variable interventions). Two low/very low-quality studies showed improved PG-SGA scores but the highest quality RCT showed only significant increases in protein intake. Evidence not strong enough to be upgraded.

Combine exercise and nutrition programmes in incurable cancer

3.4 Exercise Delivery

There is a dose-response to exercise, and amending the mode of delivery can support more sustained and intense intervention (47). Supervised interventions which often permit a higher training intensity have more beneficial effects on physical function than unsupervised interventions (62) and moderate-to-vigorous exercise is the best level of intensity to improve physical function (33). Home- and community-based physical activity interventions may be a potential tool to combat functional decline without the need for specialist centres (63). Community-based group interventions produce larger effect sizes than home-based interventions completed alone (63). For interventions at home, with light supervision, effects on function are greater when a higher weekly energy expenditure is prescribed (62).

4. Practice Barriers and Facilitators

4.1 Patients and Families

Patient beliefs about the value, enjoyment and benefits of physical activity and exercise can influence their attitude and motivation to participate. Those who don't see themselves as exercisers are more likely to count everyday activities as 'being active' and may be less motivated to participate in more formal exercise programmes (64-66). Use of simple programmes with walking as the primary modality can be useful (67).

Cancer symptoms, e.g. breathlessness and fatigue, can act as barriers especially if they increase in intensity during or after physical activity (68). Patients may lack knowledge and confidence on how to exercise safely and have fears relating to over-exertion, potential harm or disease progression (64-66). How physical activity and exercise is proposed to patients is an important influencer. Advice from any health-care professional reduces barriers (65), but some patients perceive doctors to be the most influential (69). Some patients can be attracted by seeing potential benefit around fitness whilst others may be more willing to participate if programmes are promoted to help them to carry on with usual routines and roles of normal life, to return to work or to improve their mental well-being (65, 70). There is wide variation in patient preferences, suggesting that multiple options would be most beneficial (67). Professionals should embrace patients' interests and preferences to facilitate optimal uptake of physical activity interventions.

Family and friends are also important. Patients report that it can be difficult to overcome family advice to rest (66). Time too is a barrier, especially when receiving cancer treatment. For some, physical activity and exercise need to fit into daily routines or alongside scheduled hospital visits and not require extra appointments at the hospital. For others, lack of support is a barrier and group activities are more acceptable (65, 70). Advice should be individualized and the simple message to avoid a sedentary lifestyle and licensing usual physical activity is a start. For other patients, recommendations to take a daily walk or an invitation to join a physical exercise programme may be more fitting (21).

4.2 The Role of Professionals

Clinicians report a lack of knowledge about the benefits and risks associated with physical activity and exercise and that this influences their ability to give good advice. They are aware of the above barriers experienced by patients, as well as the complex interaction of cancer type and staging, treatments, symptoms, age, comorbidities etc (70, 71). These

same factors reduce clinicians' confidence around the provision of safe advice, especially when symptoms or psychological distress are severe.

Some clinicians, like patients, do not realize the benefits for patients, especially those with a poor prognosis. Others are uncertain how they can change patient behaviours during short clinical encounters (71). Brief goal setting, setting of graded tasks and instruction of how to perform behaviours, can help to encourage previously inactive patients to achieve international physical activity guidelines (72). Strategies containing interactive elements, e.g. patient diaries, tailored to the individual needs of patients, are more successful in improving uptake of physical activity (73).

4.3 Organizational Factors

Access to physical activity and exercise services may be limited. There is a lack of provision for exercise in cancer care compared to other health conditions. Location, difficulties associated with transport and cost also act as barriers (65, 71, 74) and in exercise studies the location of the centre is a prominent predictor of adherence (68). Home-based programmes may improve acceptability but supervision is less prominent in these delivery models (64).

Workplace cultures can act as a barrier or facilitator to physical activity. There is uncertainty around whose role it is to give information and in what format. The physical environment and routine of wards and out-patient clinics can promote or inhibit PA. Larger healthcare system issues also have an impact. Fragmented care teams, and lack of physiotherapists in care teams and/or lack of referral pathways to physiotherapy act as system level barriers (65, 71, 74). Sharing of advice between health professionals can help build collective confidence and expertise, moving towards a position in which every team member feels they can contribute towards multimodal care (75).

5. Summary

Cancer and its treatment reduce physical function often through an effect on cardiovascular, respiratory and muscular systems. Cachexia accelerates the decline in physical function, primarily through loss of muscle mass and function, leading to earlier physical disability and dependence. Physical activity and exercise have a sound theoretical basis and strong evidence around their effects on reducing symptom burden and improving physical function in cancer, leading to improved health related quality of life. Several frameworks are available to support the professional to provide safe and effective exercise training, including screening, prescription and progression. The combination of aerobic and resistance training is most appropriate for patients with cancer cachexia and/or those where muscle performance limits physical function. Additionally, programmes combining nutrition with exercise may be most appropriate for patients with cachexia and incurable cancer. Intensive, supervised exercise programmes are most effective but may not be acceptable or practical for all patients. Advice to improve physical activity levels, working to overcome patient, professional and organizational barriers, is recommended.

6. References

- Jones LW, Eves ND, Haykowsky M, Freedland SJ, Mackey JR. Exercise intolerance in cancer and the role of exercise therapy to reverse dysfunction. Lancet Oncol. 2009;10(6):598-605.
- 2. Jones LW, Eves ND, Haykowsky M, Joy AA, Douglas PS. Cardiorespiratory exercise testing in clinical oncology research: systematic review and practice recommendations. Lancet Oncol. 2008;9(8):757-65.
- 3. Lakoski SG, Eves ND, Douglas PS, Jones LW. Exercise rehabilitation in patients with cancer. Nature reviews Clinical oncology. 2012;9(5):288-96.
- 4. Scott JM, Zabor EC, Schwitzer E, Koelwyn GJ, Adams SC, Nilsen TS, et al. Efficacy of Exercise Therapy on Cardiorespiratory Fitness in Patients With Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2018;36(22):2297-305.
- 5. O'Neill L, Moran J, Guinan EM, Reynolds JV, Hussey J. Physical decline and its implications in the management of oesophageal and gastric cancer: a systematic review. Journal of cancer survivorship : research and practice. 2018;12(4):601-18.
- 6. Jones NL, Killian KJ. Exercise limitation in health and disease. The New England journal of medicine. 2000;343(9):632-41.
- 7. Awad S, Tan BH, Cui H, Bhalla A, Fearon KC, Parsons SL, et al. Marked changes in body composition following neoadjuvant chemotherapy for oesophagogastric cancer. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2012;31(1):74-7.
- 8. Antoun S, Birdsell L, Sawyer MB, Venner P, Escudier B, Baracos VE. Association of skeletal muscle wasting with treatment with sorafenib in patients with advanced renal cell carcinoma: results from a placebo-controlled study. Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2010;28(6):1054-60.
- 9. Neo J, Fettes L, Gao W, Higginson IJ, Maddocks M. Disability in activities of daily living among adults with cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer treatment reviews. 2017;61:94-106.
- LeBlanc TW, Nipp RD, Rushing CN, Samsa GP, Locke SC, Kamal AH, et al. Correlation between the international consensus definition of the Cancer Anorexia-Cachexia Syndrome (CACS) and patient-centered outcomes in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2015;49(4):680-9.
- 11. Naito T, Okayama T, Aoyama T, Ohashi T, Masuda Y, Kimura M, et al. Unfavorable impact of cancer cachexia on activity of daily living and need for inpatient care in elderly patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer in Japan: a prospective longitudinal observational study. BMC cancer. 2017;17(1):800.
- 12. MacDonald AJ, Miller J, Ramage MI, Greig C, Stephens NA, Jacobi C, et al. Cross sectional imaging of truncal and quadriceps muscles relates to different functional outcomes in cancer. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2018.
- 13. Fearon KC. The 2011 ESPEN Arvid Wretlind lecture: cancer cachexia: the potential impact of translational research on patient-focused outcomes. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2012;31(5):577-82.
- 14. Fearon K, Strasser F, Anker SD, Bosaeus I, Bruera E, Fainsinger RL, et al. Definition and classification of cancer cachexia: an international consensus. Lancet Oncol. 2011;12(5):489-95.
- 15. Gray C, MacGillivray TJ, Eeley C, Stephens NA, Beggs I, Fearon KC, et al. Magnetic resonance imaging with k-means clustering objectively measures whole muscle volume compartments in sarcopenia/cancer cachexia. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2011;30(1):106-11.

- 16. Weber MA, Krakowski-Roosen H, Schroder L, Kinscherf R, Krix M, Kopp-Schneider A, et al. Morphology, metabolism, microcirculation, and strength of skeletal muscles in cancer-related cachexia. Acta oncologica (Stockholm, Sweden). 2009;48(1):116-24.
- 17. Stephens NA, Gray C, MacDonald AJ, Tan BH, Gallagher IJ, Skipworth RJ, et al. Sexual dimorphism modulates the impact of cancer cachexia on lower limb muscle mass and function. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2012;31(4):499-505.
- 18. Baracos VE, Martin L, Korc M, Guttridge DC, Fearon KCH. Cancer-associated cachexia. Nature reviews Disease primers. 2018;4:17105.
- 19. de Vos-Geelen J, Fearon KC, Schols AM. The energy balance in cancer cachexia revisited. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care. 2014;17(6):509-14.
- 20. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public health reports (Washington, DC : 1974). 1985;100(2):126-31.
- 21. Arends J, Baracos V, Bertz H, Bozzetti F, Calder PC, Deutz NEP, et al. ESPEN expert group recommendations for action against cancer-related malnutrition. Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland). 2017;36(5):1187-96.
- 22. Buffart LM, Galvao DA, Brug J, Chinapaw MJ, Newton RU. Evidence-based physical activity guidelines for cancer survivors: current guidelines, knowledge gaps and future research directions. Cancer treatment reviews. 2014;40(2):327-40.
- 23. Schmitz KH, Courneya KS, Matthews C, Demark-Wahnefried W, Galvao DA, Pinto BM, et al. American College of Sports Medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. Medicine and science in sports and exercise. 2010;42(7):1409-26.
- 24. Campbell A, Stevinson C, Crank H. The BASES Expert Statement on Exercise and Cancer Survivorship. Journal of Sports Sciences. 2012;30(9):949-52.
- Doyle C, Kushi LH, Byers T, Courneya KS, Demark-Wahnefried W, Grant B, et al. Nutrition and physical activity during and after cancer treatment: an American Cancer Society guide for informed choices. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2006;56(6):323-53.
- 26. Jones LW, Eves ND, Peppercorn J. Pre-exercise screening and prescription guidelines for cancer patients. The Lancet Oncology. 2010;11(10):914-6.
- 27. Sasso JP, Eves ND, Christensen JF, Koelwyn GJ, Scott J, Jones LW. A framework for prescription in exercise-oncology research. Journal of cachexia, sarcopenia and muscle. 2015;6(2):115-24.
- 28. Maltser S, Cristian A, Silver JK, Morris GS, Stout NL. A Focused Review of Safety Considerations in Cancer Rehabilitation. PM & R : the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation. 2017;9(9s2):S415-s28.
- 29. Jones LW EN, Peppercorn J. Pre-exercise screening and prescription guidelines for cancer patients. The Lancet Oncology. 2010;11(10):P914-6.
- 30. Santa Mina D LD, Adams SC, Alibhai SMH, Chasen M, Campbell KL et al. Exercise as part of routine cancer care. The Lancet Oncology. 2018;19(9):PE433-E6.
- 31. Stevinson C CA, Cavill N, Foster J. Physical activity and Cancer: A Concise Evidence Review2017. Available from: <u>https://www.macmillan.org.uk/ images/the-importance-physical-activity-for-people-living-with-and-beyond-cancer tcm9-290123.pdf</u>
- 32. Segal R, Zwaal C, Green E, Tomasone JR, Loblaw A, Petrella T. Exercise for people with cancer: a systematic review. Current oncology (Toronto, Ont). 2017;24(4):e290-e315.
- 33. Stout NL, Baima J, Swisher AK, Winters-Stone KM, Welsh J. A Systematic Review of Exercise Systematic Reviews in the Cancer Literature (2005-2017). PM & R : the journal of injury, function, and rehabilitation. 2017;9(9s2):S347-s84.

- 34. Oldervoll LM, Loge JH, Lydersen S, Paltiel H, Asp MB, Nygaard UV, et al. Physical exercise for cancer patients with advanced disease: a randomized controlled trial. The oncologist. 2011;16(11):1649-57.
- 35. Maddocks M, Mockett S, Wilcock A. Is exercise an acceptable and practical therapy for people with or cured of cancer? A systematic review. Cancer treatment reviews. 2009;35(4):383-90.
- 36. Fong DYT, Ho JWC, Hui BPH, Lee AM, Macfarlane DJ, Leung SSK, et al. Physical activity for cancer survivors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ. 2012;344:e70.
- 37. Kelley GA, Kelley KS. Exercise and cancer-related fatigue in adults: a systematic review of previous systematic reviews with meta-analyses. BMC cancer. 2017;17(1):693.
- 38. Craft LL, VanIterson EH, Helenowski IB, Rademaker AW, Courneya KS. Exercise Effects on Depressive Symptoms in Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & amp; Prevention. 2012;21(1):3-19.
- 39. Mishra SI, Scherer RW, Geigle PM, Berlanstein DR, Topaloglu O, Gotay CC, et al. Exercise interventions on health-related quality of life for cancer survivors. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2012(8):Cd007566.
- 40. Cave J, Paschalis A, Huang CY, West M, Copson E, Jack S, et al. A systematic review of the safety and efficacy of aerobic exercise during cytotoxic chemotherapy treatment. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018.
- 41. Gebruers N, Camberlin M, Theunissen F, Tjalma W, Verbelen H, Van Soom T, et al. The effect of training interventions on physical performance, quality of life, and fatigue in patients receiving breast cancer treatment: a systematic review. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2019;27(1):109-22.
- 42. Heywood R, McCarthy AL, Skinner TL. Efficacy of Exercise Interventions in Patients With Advanced Cancer: A Systematic Review. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2018;99(12):2595-620.
- 43. Wiskemann J, Clauss D, Tjaden C, Hackert T, Schneider L, Ulrich CM, et al. Progressive Resistance Training to Impact Physical Fitness and Body Weight in Pancreatic Cancer Patients: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Pancreas. 2019;48(2):257-66.
- 44. Naito T, Mitsunaga S, Miura S, Tatematsu N, Inano T, Mouri T, et al. Feasibility of early multimodal interventions for elderly patients with advanced pancreatic and non-small-cell lung cancer. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle. 2018.
- 45. Dhillon HM, Bell ML, van der Ploeg HP, Turner JD, Kabourakis M, Spencer L, et al. Impact of physical activity on fatigue and quality of life in people with advanced lung cancer: a randomized controlled trial. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2017;28(8):1889-97.
- 46. Stuecher K, Bolling C, Vogt L, Niederer D, Schmidt K, Dignass A, et al. Exercise improves functional capacity and lean body mass in patients with gastrointestinal cancer during chemotherapy: a single-blind RCT. Supportive care in cancer : official journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer. 2018.
- 47. Demark-Wahnefried W, Schmitz KH, Alfano CM, Bail JR, Goodwin PJ, Thomson CA, et al. Weight management and physical activity throughout the cancer care continuum. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2018;68(1):64-89.
- 48. Thomas RJ, Kenfield SA, Jimenez A. Exercise-induced biochemical changes and their potential influence on cancer: a scientific review. British journal of sports medicine. 2017;51(8):640-4.

- 49. Ashcraft KA, Peace RM, Betof AS, Dewhirst MW, Jones LW. Efficacy and Mechanisms of Aerobic Exercise on Cancer Initiation, Progression, and Metastasis: A Critical Systematic Review of In Vivo Preclinical Data. Cancer research. 2016;76(14):4032-50.
- 50. Maddocks M, Jones LW, Wilcock A. Immunological and hormonal effects of exercise: implications for cancer cachexia. Current opinion in supportive and palliative care. 2013;7(4):376-82.
- Pring ET, Malietzis G, Kennedy RH, Athanasiou T, Jenkins JT. Cancer cachexia and myopenia - Update on management strategies and the direction of future research for optimizing body composition in cancer - A narrative review. Cancer treatment reviews. 2018;70:245-54.
- 52. Stene GB, Helbostad JL, Balstad TR, Riphagen, II, Kaasa S, Oldervoll LM. Effect of physical exercise on muscle mass and strength in cancer patients during treatment---a systematic review. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2013;88(3):573-93.
- 53. Sweegers MG, Altenburg TM, Brug J, May AM, van Vulpen JK, Aaronson NK, et al. Effects and moderators of exercise on muscle strength, muscle function and aerobic fitness in patients with cancer: a meta-analysis of individual patient data. British journal of sports medicine. 2018.
- 54. Gagnon B, Murphy J, Eades M, Lemoignan J, Jelowicki M, Carney S, et al. A prospective evaluation of an interdisciplinary nutrition-rehabilitation program for patients with advanced cancer. Curr Oncol. 2013;20(6):310-8.
- 55. Jones L, Fitzgerald G, Leurent B, Round J, Eades J, Davis S, et al. Rehabilitation in advanced, progressive, recurrent cancer: a randomized controlled trial. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2013;46(3):315-25 e3.
- 56. Uster A, Ruehlin M, Mey S, Gisi D, Knols R, Imoberdorf R, et al. Effects of nutrition and physical exercise intervention in palliative cancer patients: A randomized controlled trial. Clin Nutr. 2017.
- 57. Chasen MR, Feldstain A, Gravelle D, Macdonald N, Pereira J. An interprofessional palliative care oncology rehabilitation program: effects on function and predictors of program completion. Curr Oncol. 2013;20(6):301-9.
- 58. Glare P, Jongs W, Zafiropoulos B. Establishing a cancer nutrition rehabilitation program (CNRP) for ambulatory patients attending an Australian cancer center. Support Care Cancer. 2011;19(4):445-54.
- 59. Chasen MR, Bhargava R. A rehabilitation program for patients with gastroesophageal cancer--a pilot study. Support Care Cancer. 2010;18 Suppl 2:S35-40.
- 60. Feldstain A, Lebel S, Chasen MR. An interdisciplinary palliative rehabilitation intervention bolstering general self-efficacy to attenuate symptoms of depression in patients living with advanced cancer. Support Care Cancer. 2016;24(1):109-17.
- 61. Feldstain A, Lebel S, Chasen MR. The longitudinal course of depression symptomatology following a palliative rehabilitation program. Qual Life Res. 2017;26(7):1809-18.
- 62. Sweegers MG, Altenburg TM, Chinapaw MJ, Kalter J, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Courneya KS, et al. Which exercise prescriptions improve quality of life and physical function in patients with cancer during and following treatment? A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. British journal of sports medicine. 2018;52(8):505-13.
- 63. Swartz MC, Lewis ZH, Lyons EJ, Jennings K, Middleton A, Deer RR, et al. Effect of Home- and Community-Based Physical Activity Interventions on Physical Function Among Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation. 2017;98(8):1652-65.

- 64. Cheville AL, Dose AM, Basford JR, Rhudy LM. Insights into the reluctance of patients with late-stage cancer to adopt exercise as a means to reduce their symptoms and improve their function. Journal of pain and symptom management. 2012;44(1):84-94.
- 65. Granger CL, Connolly B, Denehy L, Hart N, Antippa P, Lin KY, et al. Understanding factors influencing physical activity and exercise in lung cancer: a systematic review. Supportive Care in Cancer. 2017;25(3):983-99.
- 66. Granger CL, Parry SM, Edbrooke L, Abo S, Leggett N, Dwyer M, et al. Improving the delivery of physical activity services in lung cancer: A qualitative representation of the patient's perspective. European journal of cancer care. 2018:e12946.
- 67. Wong JN, McAuley E, Trinh L. Physical activity programming and counseling preferences among cancer survivors: a systematic review. The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity. 2018;15(1):48.
- 68. Ormel HL, van der Schoot GGF, Sluiter WJ, Jalving M, Gietema JA, Walenkamp AME. Predictors of adherence to exercise interventions during and after cancer treatment: A systematic review. Psycho-oncology. 2018;27(3):713-24.
- 69. Williams K, Beeken R, Wardle J. Health behaviour advice to cancer patients: the perspective of social network members. British journal of cancer. 2013;108(4):831.
- 70. Bayly J, Edwards BM, Peat N, Warwick G, Hennig IM, Arora A, et al. Developing an integrated rehabilitation model for thoracic cancer services: views of patients, informal carers and clinicians. Pilot and Feasibility Studies. 2018;4(1):160.
- 71. Granger CL, Denehy L, Remedios L, Retica S, Phongpagdi P, Hart N, et al. Barriers to Translation of Physical Activity into the Lung Cancer Model of Care: A Qualitative Study of Clinicians' Perspectives. Annals of the American Thoracic Society. 2016(ja).
- 72. Turner RR, Steed L, Quirk H, Greasley RU, Saxton JM, Taylor SJ, et al. Interventions for promoting habitual exercise in people living with and beyond cancer. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2018;9:Cd010192.
- 73. C IJ, Ottevanger PB, Tsekou Diogeni M, Gerritsen WR, van Harten WH, Hermens R. Review: Effectiveness of implementation strategies to increase physical activity uptake during and after cancer treatment. Critical reviews in oncology/hematology. 2018;122:157-63.
- 74. Robb K, Davis J. Examining progress in cancer rehabilitation: are we closer to parity of esteem? European journal of cancer care. 2015;24(5):601-4.
- 75. Maddocks M, Hopkinson J, Conibear J, Reeves A, Shaw C, Fearon KC. Practical multimodal care for cancer cachexia. Current opinion in supportive and palliative care. 2016;10(4):298-305.